

WebFOCUS

Troubleshooting Release 8.2 Version 03

April 13, 2018

Active Technologies, EDA, EDA/SQL, FIDEL, FOCUS, Information Builders, the Information Builders logo, iWay, iWay Software, Parlay, PC/FOCUS, RStat, Table Talk, Web390, WebFOCUS, WebFOCUS Active Technologies, and WebFOCUS Magnify are registered trademarks, and DataMigrator and Hyperstage are trademarks of Information Builders, Inc.

Adobe, the Adobe logo, Acrobat, Adobe Reader, Flash, Adobe Flash Builder, Flex, and PostScript are either registered trademarks or trademarks of Adobe Systems Incorporated in the United States and/or other countries.

Due to the nature of this material, this document refers to numerous hardware and software products by their trademarks. In most, if not all cases, these designations are claimed as trademarks or registered trademarks by their respective companies. It is not this publisher's intent to use any of these names generically. The reader is therefore cautioned to investigate all claimed trademark rights before using any of these names other than to refer to the product described.

Copyright © 2018, by Information Builders, Inc. and iWay Software. All rights reserved. Patent Pending. This manual, or parts thereof, may not be reproduced in any form without the written permission of Information Builders, Inc.

Contents

1. Troubleshooting	5
Troubleshooting WebFOCUS Business User Edition	
Starting the Reporting Server Service	
Starting WebFOCUS Business User Edition	
Port Assignment	
WebFOCUS Business User Edition Log Files	6
Troubleshooting the Uninstall Process	6
Monitoring Sessions	9
Exporting the Session Monitor Log	
Viewing Sessions	
Reviewing the Session Viewer Main Page	
Reviewing the Session Details Page	16
Reviewing Trace Entries	18
Reviewing Expanded URL Details	
Reviewing Reporting Server Request Details.	
Reviewing Reporting Server Response Details	
Working With Log Files	23
Working With Log Pages	
Tracking ReportCaster Configuration Events.	25
Downloading ReportCaster Job Trace Files	25
Using the ReportCaster Performance Log to Track Schedule Performance	26
Understanding Warning Messages in InfoAssist	
InfoAssist Warning Messages	27
Unsupported Syntax and Objects	

Contents

Chapter

Troubleshooting

Learn how to troubleshoot all areas of WebFOCUS Business User Edition.

In this chapter:

- Troubleshooting WebFOCUS Business User Edition
- Monitoring Sessions
- Exporting the Session Monitor Log
- Viewing Sessions
- Working With Log Files
- Understanding Warning Messages in InfoAssist

Troubleshooting WebFOCUS Business User Edition

This topic describes how to troubleshoot the WebFOCUS Business User Edition installation.

Starting the Reporting Server Service

If you receive a message during the installation process related to failure to start the Reporting Server service, perform either of the following steps after the installation completes:

Start the WebFOCUS BUE 82 Reporting Server service from the Windows Services.

or

Use the Start WebFOCUS_BUE Services program shortcut.

Starting WebFOCUS Business User Edition

If you are unable to launch WebFOCUS Business User Edition, ensure that all services are running. If they are not, do the following:

- Stop all services.
- **Q** Restart the services, and launch WebFOCUS Business User Edition.

If this does not work, stop the services again. Before you restart the services, ensure that the Hyperstage processes, *ibengine.exe* and *postgres.exe*, are also stopped. Restart your machine if you are still unable to restart the services.

Port Assignment

By default, ports in the range of 26000 to 26040 are checked for availability. If the installation program detects that no ports in that range are available, it then increases the range by 10 and checks again for availability. For example, if ports 26000 to 26040 are unavailable, ports 26010 to 26050 are then checked.

Default Port Assignment.

Ports 26000 to 26003 are used by the application server.

- Port 26010 is used by the repository server.
- Ports 26020 to 26023 and port 26040 are used by the Reporting Server.
- □ Port 26030 is used by the Distribution Server.

WebFOCUS Business User Edition Log Files

WebFOCUS Business User Edition creates a log file in the following location for Windows:

drive:\Users\user_id\WebFOCUS_BUE82_Install_date_time.log

drive:\Users\user_id\WebFOCUS_BUE82_Debug_date_time.log

where:

user_id

Is your Windows user ID.

date_time

Is the date and time the log file was created.

These log files provide information about the WebFOCUS Business User Edition installation. If you contact Customer Support Services with an installation problem, have these files available.

Troubleshooting the Uninstall Process

If you choose to uninstall WebFOCUS Business User Edition, and the uninstall process fails, you can follow one of the procedures in this section to clean up your machine before reinstalling the product.

Before performing one of the following procedures, ensure that you have uninstalled WebFOCUS Business User Edition.

Procedure: How to Manually Uninstall WebFOCUS Business User Edition Components Using the Cleanup Utility

If the WebFOCUS Business User Edition uninstall process fails, you can run the idis_cleanup.bat file to clean a damaged installation on your machine.

1. Navigate to the following location on your machine:

drive:\ibi\WebFOCUS_BUE82\WebFOCUS\utilities\install\

- 2. Copy the *idis_cleanup.bat* file from the install directory to a different directory (for example, *drive*:\ibi\).
- 3. Right-click *idis_cleanup.bat*, and then click *Run as administrator*.
- 4. When prompted, type the location of the install directory to proceed.

Note: By default, the utility will back up the Reporting Server applications, data, and the Derby database.

Procedure: How to Manually Uninstall WebFOCUS Business User Edition Components

If the WebFOCUS Business User Edition uninstall process fails, you can do the following to manually cleanup the remaining WebFOCUS Business User Edition components on your machine.

1. Stop any running WebFOCUS Business User Edition services on the system.

- 2. Remove any remaining services from your machine.
 - a. Locate the existing WebFOCUS Business User Edition services. To get the service name, right-click the service in the Windows Services program and click *Properties*. The Properties dialog box opens, where you can right-click the service name and click *Copy*, as shown in the following image.

General	Log On	Recovery	Depend	encies				
Service	name:	WFBUE82	App Srv.					
Display	name:	WebFOCL	JS B	Undo				
Description:		WebFOCU	JS B	Cut				
Docomp		Server/		Сору				
Path to	executabl	e:	1.0	Paste				
C:\ibi\V	VebFOCU	S_BUE82\to	omca	Delete				
Startup	type:	Automatic	2	Select All				
Service	status:	Running	_	Right to left Reading Show Unicode contr Insert Unicode contr	ol characters			
9	Start	Stop	p	Pause R	esume			
from her		he start para	ameters th	at apply when you start th	le service			

b. To remove a service, open the Command Prompt as an Administrator and issue the following command:

sc delete "service name"

where:

service name

Is the name of the service you are manually deleting. For example:

C:\sc delete "WfBUE82AppSrv"

Note: The service name must be enclosed in double quotation marks.

Repeat this for the remaining services.

- 3. Open Task Manager and ensure that the process *ibengine.exe* is not running.
- 4. Remove files from disk, except for the Reporting Server application folders.

For example, if WebFOCUS Business User Edition is installed on the C:\ drive, remove all folders under C:\ibi\WebFOCUS_BUE82\ except for the C:\ibi\WebFOCUS_BUE82\data\ folder.

- 5. Click Start, point to All Programs, and expand the Information Builders folder.
- 6. Right-click the WebFOCUS Business User Edition 82 folder and click Delete.
- 7. Launch the Windows Registry Editor, and remove the following registry keys.
 - □ HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\WebFOCUS_BUE82
 - HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Information Builders\Derby\WfBUE82DbSrv
 - HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Wow6432Node\Apache Software Foundation \Procrun 2.0\WfBUE82AppSrv
 - HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Information Builders\WebFOCUS BUE 82 Reporting Server
 - HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Wow6432Node\Information Builders \ReportCaster\WfBUE82DistSrv

Monitoring Sessions

The Session Monitor enables Managers to track all client sessions, as well as connections and activity on the Reporting Server. The Session Monitor displays information about connected users, report requests, and Reporting Server nodes, as shown in the following image.

Session Mon		\square Refresh interval: 10 second(s)								
JRL Logging Leve	el is curre	ntly set to	None 🗸	L	ong R	unning Thr	eshold:	5 minute(s))	
Current Sessions:	5									
IP address	Mode	Client User	URL Logging	Trace (Control	Trace FEX	Active URLs	URL # / AVG / Max	Server # / AVG / Max	W/ DBMS # / AVG / Max
172.30.234.78	WEB	admin	OFF	Off	\sim		1	714 / 0.047 / 3.400	7 / 0.780 / 3.211	4 / 0.001 / 0.001
Last req:EDASE	RVE/ (17.14	1.04) -> Run:F	ex=ADHOCRQ							
tlswin10-02.ibi.com	WFDT	admin	OFF	Off	\sim		-	185 / 0.072 / 0.478	152 / 0.052 / 0.268	56 / 0.001 / 0.001
Last req:EDASE	RVE/ (18.15	5.54) -> Run:F	ex=METAQUER	Y-APPDE	LETEFI	LE				
tlswin7ie10.ibi.com	WFDT	admin	OFF	Off	\sim		-	66 / 0.006 / 0.087	1 / 0.055 / 0.055	0 / 0.000 / 0.000
Last req:EDASE	RVE/ (15.42	2.41) -> Run:F	ex=METAQUER	Y-APPSH	OWPAT	'H				
qaw7nf03.ibi.com	WFDT	admin	OFF	Off	\sim		-	112 / 0.008 / 0.515	1 / 0.063 / 0.063	0 / 0.000 / 0.000
Last req:EDASE	RVE/ (11.52	2.34) -> Run:F	ex=METAQUER	Y-APPSH	OWPAT	Н				
	WEB	admin	OFF	Off	\sim		-	101 / 0.013 / 0.347	1/0.031/0.031	0 / 0.000 / 0.000

To refresh the information displayed, click the *Refresh* icon. To set an automatic refresh operation, select the *Refresh Interval* check box and accept the default setting of ten second intervals, or type the number of seconds you wish to use instead. If you change the value in this field, it will remain valid only while the Session Monitor page is open. If you close this page and return to it later, the default value will be reestablished.

Managers can enable or disable logging for all current sessions by clicking *All/None/Selective* next to *URL Logging Level is currently set to*. To enable or disable logging for individual sessions, click *Selective*, and then *ON* or *OFF* under the URL Logging column for the individual sessions. By default, all log information is located in the /logs directory.

To prevent inactive sessions from continuing indefinitely, accept the value of five minutes in the Long Running Threshold field, or type a different value to extend or curtail this period. If you change the value in this field, it will remain valid only while the Session Monitor page is open. If you close this page and return to it later, the default value will be reestablished.

For each session, the following information is available:

IP Address

The numeric label assigned to the computer or other device that initiated the session.

Using this address, you can identify the user assigned to the computer or other device that initiated the session.

Mode

Identifies the product component that started the session and provides information about all active requests. The product component values are as follows:

WEB

Specifies the Client.

WSRV

Specifies the Reporting Server.

Client User

Specifies the user ID that started the client session. A value of null indicates that it is a request from a self-service application.

URL Logging

Enables or disables logging for an individual session or a current user.

Trace Control

Enables or disables tracing for a specific IP Address, that is, user.

Trace FEX

Enables or disables WFServlet, Client Connector, and Reporting Server traces for each session. If tracing is enabled, click the *View Trace* icon to see the trace.

Active URLs

Specifies the number of URLs that are actively in use during the session. This value is relevant only to sessions that are currently open and active. Each URL represents the workstation from which a request was launched to the application server through the browser.

URL

Specifies the number, average duration, and maximum duration of dynamic URLs sent in HTTP requests. Duration is measured in seconds, calculated to the millisecond. Not all URLs in HTTP requests are forwarded to the server, and not all requests forwarded to the server are then forwarded to the DBMS.

Server

Specifies the number, average duration, and maximum duration of dynamic URLs that run reports on the Reporting Server. Duration is measured in seconds, calculated to the millisecond. Not all URLs in HTTP requests are forwarded to the server, and not all requests forwarded to the server are then forwarded to the DBMS.

W/DBMS

Specifies the number, average duration, and maximum duration of dynamic URLs that run reports against an external database. Duration is measured in seconds, calculated to the millisecond. Not all URLs in HTTP requests are forwarded to the server, and not all requests forwarded to the server are then forwarded to the DBMS.

Exporting the Session Monitor Log

You may need to export a session monitor log for troubleshooting.

- In the Administration Console, click the *Diagnostics* tab, and then click Session Monitor. Current sessions appear in the right pane.
- 2. Set the Trace Control option for the chosen session to Details.

Information icons now appear in the Trace FEX column.

- 3. If necessary, run a request for logging, then return to the Administration Console.
- 4. Click the View Trace icon 🥺.

The Session Viewer appears, as shown in the following image.

manager Session Viewer 160317/manager_110210											
User Name	Tracing Level	Fex Echo Setting	SQL Tracing	Viewing File	Session Started	Last Activity	URL Count	Average Response	Server Requests	Average Server Time	Average DBMS Time
manager	Details 🗸	● Off ◯ On ◯ All	● Off ○ On	11.07-* New File	11.02.10	11.07.55	63	0.037	1	0.127	0.000
© <u>Refre</u> No trac		ous Internation Internation Internation Internation Internation Internation Internation International Internation International International Internation International In	<u>races</u>	/iew:[Server Reqι	iests 🗸	In grou	ups of	5 🗸	HighLi	ght:	
Date 160317	Existing session manager 10132		D								

- 5. Click on one of the Zip Session Traces links and save the zip file.
- 6. Close the Session Viewer and return to the Session Monitor pane.
- 7. Set Trace Control to its previous value. Typically, this is OFF.

WebFOCUS Business User Edition confirms that tracing has been changed or stopped in a message above the Session Monitor table.

Viewing Sessions

The Session Viewer enables you to review traces of system events that took place during recent work sessions and export them to system administrators or customer support staff. Traces of system events and error messages captured by the Session Viewer provide a clear picture of system operations, and enable you to investigate the causes of system disruptions or performance issues.

The Session Viewer complements the Session Monitor page by extending the range of sessions under review, from those that are currently active, to those that occurred in the past. The parameter Days Until Traces Are Deleted (IBI_TRACE_RETAIN_DAYS) defines the number of days that the Session Viewer retains information about sessions. It also focuses your review by limiting the range of available sessions to those created by you and by those users whose session activities you have permission to review.

The Session Viewer is only available to Managers. To open the Session Viewer, sign in as a Manager, and in the Portal Menu bar, click *Tools*, and then click *Session Viewer*. If you are signed in as a Manager, you can also open the Session Viewer from the View Trace icons in the Session Monitor page.

You can view sessions you started and sessions started by other users.

Reviewing the Session Viewer Main Page

The main page of the Session Viewer displays information about your current work session. It also lists entries for all recently completed sessions that you have permission to review, as shown in the following image.

User Name		racing Level	Fex Echo Setting	SQL Tracing	Viewing File	Session Started	Last Activity	URL Count	Average Response	Server Requests	Average Server Time	Average DBMS Time		
manager		als 🗸	O OFF ® On O AL	Ooff⊛on	10.28-" New File	10.27.54	10.29.39	112	0.183	3	1.008	0.000		
Refresh	1 Pre	vious 🔻	Next 📥 Last	View: Work UR		ips of 25 V	HighLight			IP Session	Traces			
	End	2.55 Max											Details	
0:28:26 10:	:28:26		E Id:URL80 /ac	tion.rc?cmdConfigId=;	ScheduleGet&handle=1	dcd626c1sf06ds4	Redsa672s1c5e48	13976bb8random	-0.2597681200	42946878JBIWF	SES_AUTH_TO	CEN-9857864647	#73eb5aad958b2a549d5b	
0:28:40 10:	:28:41		E Id:URL82 /ac	tion.rc?cmdConfigId=:	xGetWFServerViewBean	.ist&folderPath=1	BFS:/WFC/Reposit	tory/RC_VALIDA	FION8handle=S	1471b2d0s3ddcs	498169143696175	9467f918/random	=0.59130951248289738JBIWF_SES_AUTH_TOKEN=985f864b47df7	73eb5aad958b2a
0:28:41 10:	:28:41		E Ed:URL83 /ac	tion.rc?cmdConfigId+:	ScheduleGet&handle=!	1471b2d0s3ddcs	4a81s9f43s9ef759	467f918random	0.4490112952	7556838187WF_	SES_AUTH_TOKE	N=985f864b47df	73eb5aad958b2a549d5b	
0:28:41 10:	:28:41		El Ed:URL85 /ge	naccess.bip?BIP_REQI	VEST_TYPE=BIP_GET_0	EN_ACCESS&/bfs	Path=IBFS%3A%	2FWFC%2FRepo	story%2FRetai	_Samples&IBI_r	andom=9635.256	1119180246JBIV	/F_SES_AUTH_TOKEN=985/864b47df73eb5aad958b2a549d5b	
0:28:42 10:	:28:42		E Id:URL86 /Ite	minfo.bip?BIP_REQUE	ST_TYPE-BIP_GET_IT	M_INFO8path=I	BFS:/WFC/Global/	System/Quick_Li	nks.url&type=ib	im&area=&JBL_1	andom=1130.83	85542387758.080	VF_SES_AUTH_TOKEN=985f864b47df73eb5aad958b2a549d5b	
0:28:42 10:	:28:43		El Id:URL87 /ru	n.bip?80P_REQUEST_1	TYPE+BIP_RUN&BIP_fo	dor=IBFS%3A%2	FWFC%2FGlobal9	N2FSystem&BIP,	jtem=Quick_Lii	iks.url&JBFS_wf0	lescribe=XMLRU	N&WF_STYLE_HE	IGHT=7658WF_STYLE_WIDTH=14548WF_STYLE_UNITS=PDXEL58	UBBWF_redirNey
28:43 10:	:28:43 🕽		E Ed:URL88 /pc	rtalApps/welcomePage	e.jsp?IBFS_Referer=IBF	5%3A%2FWFC%	2FRepository%2FR	Retal_Samples						
0:28:43 10:	:28:44		E Id:URL89 /los	adfolder.bip?BIP_REQL	JEST_TYPE+BIP_LOAD	FOLDER&folder-	IBFS:/WFC/Repos	itory)Retail_Sam	ples&whichTree	-mr&B0Derw-fa	ise&381_random+	-6948JBIWF_SES	_AUTH_TOKEN=985f864b47df73eb5aad958b2a549d5b	
128:44 10:	:28:44		E Id:URL90 /ge	naccess.bip?BIP_REQI	UEST_TYPE=BIP_GET_0	EN_ACCESS&Jbf:	Path+IBF5%3A%	2FWFC%2FRape	sitory%2FRetai	_Samples8.181_r	andom=883.510+	078213278JBIW	SES_AUTH_TOKEN=985f864b47df73eb5aad958b2a549d5b	
:28:52 10:	:28:52		E Id:URL92 /los	dfolder.blp?BIP_REQU	JEST_TYPE+BIP_LOAD	FOLDER&folder=	IBFS:/WFC/Repos	itony/Retail_Sam	ples/Reports&m	hichTree=mr&B0	Derw=false8.188_	random=54658.0	8WF_SES_AUTH_TOKEN=985f864b47df73eb5aad958b2a549d5b	
:28:54 10:	:28:56		E Id:URL93 /ru	n.bip?80P_REQUEST_1	TYPE+BIP_RUN&BIP_fo	der=18FS%3A%3	FWFC%2FReposit	tory%2FRetal_S	amples%2FRep	nts&80P_item=C	uentity_Sold_By	Stores.fex8WF_	TYLE_HEIGHT=7658WF_STYLE_WIDTH=14548WF_STYLE_UNITS	-PDXELS8JBTW
:28:59 10:	:28:59		E Id:URL94 /los	adfolder.bip78IP_REQL	JEST_TYPE+BIP_LOAD	FOLDER&folder=	IBFS:/WFC/Repos	itory/Retail_Sam	ples/Documents	8whichTree=mr	8BIDenv=false83	BL_random=772	BLBIWF_SES_AUTH_TOKEN=985/864b47df73ab5aad958b2a549d5	b
29:02 10:	:29:04		E Id:URL96 /ru	n.bip?80P_REQUEST_1	TYPE+BOP_RUN&BIP_fo	der=IBFS%3A%3	FWFC%2FReposit	tory%2FRetal_S	amples%2FDoc	ments&BIP_iten	1+Regional_Analy	rsis.fex&WF_STY	E_HEIGHT=765&WF_STYLE_WIDTH=1454&WF_STYLE_UNITS=PI	XELS&JBOWF_n
:29:16 10:	:29:16		E td:URL100 /a	dmin										
0:29:16 10:	:29:18 📜		E Id:URL101 /1	ools/console/resources	a/markup/console.jsp									
:29:19 10:	:29:19		E Id:URL102 /t	ools/console/resources	s/markup/console_prop	rties.jsp								
29:19 10:	:29:19		E Id:URL103 /h	ools/lbfs_explore/resor	urces/markup/lbfs_expl	nel.jsp								
:29:19 10:	:29:19		E Id:URL104 /r	sConfig?IBIRS_action+	-get&IBIRS_service-co	fig&IBIRS_path-	IBFS:/OFG/VARS/	"8JBIWF_SES_A	UTH_TOKEN-9	35f864b47df73el	5aad958b2a549	15b8.80Drand=0	9365889393244483	
0:29:19 10:	:29:20		E Id:URL105 /r	sConfig?IBIRS_action+	get&IBIRS_service=co	fig&IBIRS_path+	IBFS:/CFG/VARS/	HEDDEN/180_Def	ault_Server&B0	0rand=0.510474	0176596336			
29:20 10:	:29:20		E Id:URL106 /c	onsole/WFConsole.cfg	PIBICFG_action=CFGGE	T&IBICFG_objtyp	e=EDANODEBJBD	CFG_handle=*84	BEDrand=0.294	1756336799396				
:29:20 10:	:29:20		E Id:URL107 /c	onsole/WFConsole.cfg	PIBICFG_action=CFGGE	T&IBICFG_objtyp	e-EDANCOE8JBD	CFG_handle=*8J	BIDrand=0.1264	9811668081628				
0:29:20 10:	:29:21		E Id:URL108 /c	onsole/WFConsole.cfg	PIBICFG_action=CFGGE	T&IBICFG_objtyp	e=SCRIPT&IBICFI	G_handle=altdro	de.wfs8BIDran	1=0.0793196717	0180781			
0:29:21 10:	:29:21		E Id:URL109 /c	onsole/WFConsole.cfg	PIBICFG_action=CFGGE	T&IBICFG_objtyp	e=EDANODE8JBD	CFG_handle=*88	BEDrand=0.967	956686982392				
0:29:29 10:	:29:29 🚺		E Id:URL111 /c	onsole/WFConsole.cfg	PIBICFG_action=CFGGE	T&IBICFG_objtyp	e-EDANODE&JBD	CFG_handle=ED	ASERVE&BJDran	d=0.134778675	52349954			
0:29:29 10:	:29:29		E Id:URL112 /c	onsole/WFConsole.cfg	PIBICFG_action=CFGGE	T&IBICFG_objtyp	e-EDANODESJBD	CFG_handle=ED	ASERVE&BIDrar	d=0.403236739	329632			
Refresh	_	to view th		View: Work URI	tions. Click one tir	ups of 25 🗸		ult view	4	IP Session	Traces			
			- announce bettere		and and and a	10 000 10 1010								
				t(7.0; rv:11.0) like Ge										
Build	Label:HEA	D Gen_Numb	er:10861 Gen_Date:W	ed Mar 16 22:04:41 E	DT 2016									

To open the main page of the Session Viewer, sign in as a Manager, and in the Portal Menu bar, click *Tools*, and then click Session Viewer. When the main page opens, your sign-in information and the ID of the session you are viewing appear at the top of the screen. The session ID follows the format *username_HHMMSS (YYMMDD)*. It contains the date, time, and username of the session on display. For each session, the following information is available:

User Name

The name of the user that signed in to this work session.

Tracing Level

The level of traces captured by the current session. The default value for this field is Off, but you can choose another value from the drop-down list. The Session Viewer saves this selection when you close the viewer, and uses it as the default setting for your next session.

The four tracing levels are cumulative, meaning each higher level includes the traces of all of the levels below it. These levels include:

- **Basic.** Generates a trace for each URL, which includes IBFS traces and procedure traces.
- Outputs. Includes Basic level traces and output from URLs that run requests on the Reporting Server. This level of tracing affects the amount of disk space required to capture output traces, but does not affect system performance.
- **Debug.** Includes Outputs level traces and log4j debug level written to the Session Viewer output.
- **Details.** Includes Debug level traces and legacy WFServlet traces. This level of tracing affects session performance.
- Server. Includes Details level traces and generates traces for the Reporting Server activity for the current work session.

Fex Echo Setting

The level of echo traces captured from the execution of FEX file commands. In a FEX file, the &ECHO variable displays command lines as they execute in order to test and debug procedures. These levels include:

- □ **Off.** Suppresses the display of both stacked commands and Dialogue Manager commands in its traces. This value is the default.
- **On.** Displays WebFOCUS Business User Edition commands that are expanded and stacked for execution in its traces.
- □ All. Displays Dialogue Manager commands and WebFOCUS Business User Edition commands that are expanded and stacked for execution in its traces.

SQL Tracing

The level of traces captured from SQL events. These levels include:

Off. Suppresses the display of traces of SQL request and response events.

□ **On.** Displays traces of all SQL request and response events. Even if you select this setting, however, the Session Viewer will not display SQL event traces if there are no requests issued to an SQL database.

Viewing File

The name of the Viewing File. File names are identified by their start time and end time in HH.MM format. If an asterisk (*) is displayed as the end time, current traces are being routed to that file.

You can click *New File* to capture a new set of traces, which allows users to capture a set of URLs to be reviewed. When you click this link, the Session Viewer automatically creates a new file and assigns all subsequent traces to it. You can review prior traces by clicking a file containing completed traces in the Viewing File list.

Session Started

The time that your active session started, in HH:MM:SS format.

Last Activity

The start time of the most recent activity in your active session, in HH:MM:SS format.

URL Count

The total number of URLs issued for the session that you are viewing.

Average Response

The average response time for all URLs issued for the session that you are viewing.

Server Requests

The number of requests made to your Reporting Server during your active session.

Average Server Time

The average time (in seconds) that it takes the Reporting Server to respond to a request.

Average DBMS Time

The average time (in seconds) that it takes the Reporting Server to respond to a request directed to a non-WebFOCUS Business User Edition or RDBMS database.

If no current session file is available, the section below the status bar displays the following text:

Session file does not exist.

If a current session file is available, the section below the status bar lists traces for that file.

You can also view a table containing links representing recently completed sessions. If multiple viewable sessions occurred on a specific date, they are listed from left to right in that table in the order in which they occurred, earliest to latest.

Information from completed sessions remains available for the period defined in the setting, Days Until Traces Are Deleted (IBI_TRACE_RETAIN_DAYS).

To view a different session, click a session link on the main page or the session details page. A new page displaying traces for your selected session opens.

Note: The session information links connect to completed sessions only. To view a current session, open the Session Monitor page from the Administration Console, and click an Information icon, if one appears.

Reviewing the Session Details Page

To open the session details page, click a session link in the Existing session traces column of the main page. The session details page opens, as shown in the following image:

User Name		ctive sion	Viewing File						
admin	Je	DRUTT	09.38-*						
Refres	h 🖹 Pre	ioue II	Next 📥 Las	t View: Work URLs	 In groups of: 	25 V HighLight:		ZIP Session Traces	
Start	End	9.58 Max		M VIEW. WOR ONLS	• Ingroups on	20 • Highlight		Zir Session mades	
	9:39:03	1.50 1.00		/loadfolder.bip?BIDenv=fa	alse&whichTree=mr&folder=IB	FS:/EDA/EDASERVE/ibisamp8	BIP REQUEST TYPE-BI	LOAD FOLDER&IBIWF SES AU	JTH TOKEN=d33b45576ab9199342b34b00
:39:41	9:39:44		EL Id:URI 233	/iteminfo.bin?type=folder8	8BIP REQUEST TYPE=BIP GE	T ITEM INFO&nath=IBES:/F	DA/EDASERVE/ibisamo&I	BIWE SES AUTH TOKEN=d33b4	- 5576ab9199342b34b00e448d2b3&IBI ran
	9:39:58								EDA%2FEDASERVE%2Fibisamp&IBIWF S
	9:40:37						-	-	SES AUTH TOKEN=d33b45576ab9199342
	9:40:51								N=d33b45576ab9199342b34b00e448d2b
	09:40:47	_							76ab9199342b34b00e448d2b3&IBI_rando
	09:41:07								SES_AUTH_TOKEN=d33b45576ab919934
9:41:17									EDA%2FEDASERVE%2Fibisamp&IBIWF_5
9:43:27	09:43:30		Id:URL240	/editor.bip?BIP_appPath=8	&BIP_paramPrompt=true&BIP	_REQUEST_TYPE=BIP_RUN_	ADHOC&BIP_server=EDA	SERVE&BIP_folder=IBFS%3A%28	EDA%2FEDASERVE%2Fibisamp&IBIWF_5
9:54:42	9:54:44		Id:URL242	/editor.bip?BIP_REQUEST_	_TYPE=BIP_RUN_ADHOC&BIP	_server=EDASERVE&BIP_fok	er=IBFS%3A%2FEDA%2	FEDASERVE%2Fibisamp&IBIWF_	SES_AUTH_TOKEN=d33b45576ab919934
9:54:57	9:55:06		Id:URL243	/editor.bip?BIP_REQUEST_	_TYPE=BIP_RUN_ADHOC&BIP	_server=EDASERVE&BIP_fok	er=IBFS%3A%2FEDA%2	FEDASERVE%2Fibisamp&IBIWF_	SES_AUTH_TOKEN=d33b45576ab919934
Refres	h 🖻 Pre	rious 🛛	Next 📥 Las	t View: Work URLs	 In groups of: 	25 V HighLight:		ZIP Session Traces	
liek ene	time her e	ad these a	accord time by	as to one the transce	ction group in a timeline	ulaur Click a time has	to restore the view		
ick one	ume bar a	iu men a	a second time ba	ar to see the transac	cuon group in a uneine	view. Click a time ba	to restore the view		
ser Agent	Mozilla/5.0	Windows N	(T 6.1: WOW64: Trid	ent/7.0; rv:11.0) like Gecko	10				
Build				e:Tue Aug 18 20:04:29 ED					
Date	Existing sessi								
	150818/admir								
	150819/admir 150820/admir		150819/admin 122 150820/admin 101		1923 150820/admin 14061	3 150820/admin 145933	150820/tm1 150705		
0819			Transformer 101	062 135020/80000 101	1222 10020/80000 19081	2 100020rd00001 140900	10002010111100705		
50819 50820									
50819 50820 50821	150821/admir 150824/admir								

This page displays a group of features that enables you to review relevant details about your selected session, review summary versions of the traces it created, and move on to other sessions.

When the review of your selected session is complete, close the session details page to return to the main page.

When you open the session details page, your sign-in information and the ID of your selected session appear at the top of the screen.

A table underneath the Session ID lists additional details identifying the session under review. The User Name entry identifies the name of the user who initiated the session on display.

The Inactive Session entry identifies the session as being inactive or active. If this entry is blank, the session on display is inactive. If a value appears in this entry, the session on display is currently open.

The Viewing File entry identifies the range of trace entries on display, as defined by start time. By default, this value displays the entire range of trace entries from the start time to an undefined end time. If a drop-down button appears, you can select a different time range from the drop-down menu.

You can use the following options to change the display of trace information that you want to view.

- **Refresh.** Adds any traces to the list that were generated after you opened an active session. This option is not available to previously completed sessions.
- **Previous.** Moves the display back to view an earlier set of traces.
- **Next.** Moves the display forward to view a later set of traces.
- ❑ Last. Moves the display to view the final set of traces captured right before the end of the session.
- Uiew. Limits the list of traces by type.
 - ❑ All URLs. Displays URLs that return static content, such as .css files, .html files, .js files, and dynamic URLs that perform a Client action, as well as URLs that perform an action on the Reporting Server.
 - ❑ Work URLs. Limits the display to dynamic URLs, as well as Reporting Server requests. This is the default setting.
 - **Server Requests.** Limits the display to URLs that access the Reporting Server.
- □ In groups of. Determines the number of trace entries that appear on a single page. You can select 1, 5, 10, 25, 50, 100, or 200. Your selection in this field impacts the use of the Previous, Next, and Last options. The larger the value you select, the fewer times you will be required to move to the previous or next page.
- □ **HighLight.** Assigns a yellow highlight to the start time field of all trace entries that contain the search term that you type in this field.

For example, if you type the term *short*, a highlight appears in the Start Time field for any trace entry that contains this term, such as:

IBFS checkPolicy Success IBFS:/EDA/ACTWIN7/ibisamp/<u>short</u>.mas

Note: After your search results produce a match, the highlights from that match will not clear until you close the session details window. Therefore, to prevent false matches to any subsequent search, you must close and reopen the session details window.

□ **ZIP Session Traces.** Saves all of the traces from the session to a single.zip file. When you click this link, you are prompted to open or save the file. Click *Save As*, browse to a storage location for the.zip file, and then click *Save*.

The default name for this .zip file is sessionmonitor, followed by the number of trace and log files it contains.

These options also appear below the trace information table.

The trace information table enables you to review individual session traces in more detail. It displays one summary entry for each trace captured during the session. You can expand these entries to review the detailed event messages captured by the trace.

The table located below the trace information table and options identify the User Agent and Build that started the session. Details identifying the User Agent include the browser, operating systems, and supporting applications. Details identifying the Build include the version number, build number, and generation date of the version of WebFOCUS Business User Edition to which this session was connected.

A list of recently completed sessions appears at the bottom of the page. This list is a duplicate of the session list on the main page and appears here to enable you to move on to another session without having to leave the session details page.

Reviewing Trace Entries

Each entry in the list of traces on the session details page represents the record for a single system activity, as shown in the following image.

One activity can include multiple events, and these events become visible when you expand the icon next to a trace to view its full detail.

For each trace, the following information is available:

Start

The time, in hours, minutes, and seconds, that an event in the trace began. Hours are expressed in twenty-four hour time notation.

End

The time, in hours, minutes, and seconds, that an event in the trace ended. Hours are expressed in twenty-four hour time notation.

Number of Seconds Max

The number in the header of this column represents the maximum number of seconds that were required to complete the longest trace in the list.

Entries in this column contain a (time) bar that represents the relative duration of the events in the trace, as shown in the following image.

- □ The darkest blue section of the bar represents the number of Web CPU seconds that were required to process the events in this trace. It also identifies the trace as containing a Work URL component.
- ❑ The lightest blue section of the bar represents the number of Web wait seconds that were required to retrieve a response from a database. It also identifies the trace as containing a Work URL component.
- □ The brown section of the bar represents the number of Reporting Server seconds that were required to process the events represented in this trace. It also identifies the trace as containing a Server Request component.

You can view tooltips that identify the exact number of seconds that each section of a bar represents by pointing to that section with your mouse. If you are reviewing an active trace in a current session, the bar appears green and occupies the entire column entry.

Details

The ID of the trace. This is the URL of the destination of the request message that launched the trace events. The first term in the URL identifies the servlet or other application that launched the request. Each trace ID is unique.

When the URL ID number is highlighted in orange, events in the trace associated with it include one or more error messages. Within the detail trace display, events that contain error messages are also highlighted in orange to help you identify when the errors occurred.

Reviewing Expanded URL Details

When you expand an individual Trace Details list entry, a nested list of system-generated messages opens. These messages identify the events captured by that trace and the time, in milliseconds, at which those events took place. Events include request and response messages exchanged between the Client and the Reporting Server or between the Reporting Server and the application server. They also include error messages, informational messages, and system status messages generated by application programs as they execute commands. Entries representing repetitive or subordinate events are nested to help you identify them more quickly, as shown in the following image.

🗆 Id	:URL1230 /views.bip?BIP_REQ
0	UrlStart UrlID= URL123
1	IBFS+ { Start:IBFSServ
1	IBFS- } End:IBFSServic
3▶	IBFS+ { Start:IBFSServ
3▶	IBFS+ { Start: IBFSS
4▶	IBFS prepareArgs
8	IBFS MRE.getProp
96)	IBFS Caching sec
96)	IBFS checkPolicy
97▶	IBFS- } End:IBFSSer
97)	IBFS MRE.getItem pa
100	IBFS- } End:IBFSServic
103	UrlEnd UrlID= URL1230

A trace entry begins with the event start time and the number of milliseconds after the trace start time at which the event took place. This value helps you distinguish between individual events, and places them in sequence within an individual trace.

The IBFS status code for the trace event follows the event start time.

This column contains one of the following symbols:

Symbol	Description
IBFS+	The starting event of a program or exchange of data between programs or applications.
IBFS-	The ending or final event of a program or exchange of data between programs or applications.
IBFX*	An error message.
IBFSX	An administrative or informational message.

The text of the message generated by the application or program that describes the event appears next. The type of text displayed in this section varies with the type of trace you have selected from the View drop-down list.

□ If you select *All URLs* or *Work URLs*, an expanded URL entry displays the status and error messages that were generated as the program ran.

Note: If your entry includes a Server Request message, the underlined Request ID term of the trace entry links you to full details of the Reporting Server Request trace, and the underlined Response ID entry links you to full details of the Reporting Server Response trace.

If you select Server Request, an expanded URL entry displays the Reporting Server Request procedure, followed by a list of status or error messages generated during that procedure. (This is the same display that appears when you open a Server Request link from a Session Monitor Information icon.)

Reviewing Reporting Server Request Details

Traces captured from a Reporting Server Request identify the details of the query or other request operation sent from the Client to the Reporting Server during the session, as shown in the following image.

```
LiturL85Req2 Run:Domain=Getting_Started/:App=getting_started retail_samples:SubAct=MR_STD_REPORT:Fex=WebFOCUS_Report UrlID
Plain text:---Focexec-Start--- RequestID=URL85Req2 UrlID=URL85 ReqInfo="Run:Domain=Getting Started/:App
....:SET PCHOLD-FMT=XML
0001:EX -LINES 6 EDAPUT FOCEXEC, mrheader, C, MEM, -* mr header include start
0002:-* mr as NOT html
0003:-SET &FOCEXURL=&FOCEXURL | '&' | 'IBIMR drill=IBFS, RUNFEX, IBIF ex, true' | '&';
0004:SET FOCEXURL='&FOCEXURL'
0005:-* mr header include end
0006:-*
0001:EX -LINES 25 EDAPUT FOCEXEC.WebFOCUS Report.C.MEM.ENGINE INT CACHE SET ON
0002:
0003:
0004:-DEFAULTH &WF_SUMMARY='Summary';
0005:-DEFAULTH &WF_TITLE='WebFOCUS Report';
0006:TABLE FILE retail_samples/wf_retail_lite
0007:SUM WF RETAIL LITE.WF RETAIL SALES.COGS US
0008:BY WF_RETAIL_LITE.WF_RETAIL_PRODUCT.PRODUCT_CATEGORY
0009:ACROSS WF RETAIL LITE.WF RETAIL TIME SALES.TIME YEAR
0010:ON TABLE PCHOLD FORMAT HTML
0011:ON TABLE NOTOTAL
0012:ON TABLE SET CACHELINES 100
0013:ON TABLE SET PAGE-NUM NOLEAD
0014:ON TABLE SET SQUEEZE ON
0015:ON TABLE SET HTMLCSS ON
0016:ON TABLE SET HTMLENCODE ON
0017:ON TABLE SET EMPTYREPORT ON
0018:ON TABLE SET GRWIDTH 1
0019:ON TABLE SET STYLE *
0020:-INCLUDE ENWarm
0021:TYPE=REPORT, TITLETEXT=&WF TITLE.QUOTEDSTRING, SUMMARY=&WF SUMMARY.QUOTEDSTRING, HFREEZE=OFF, $
0022:ENDSTYLE
0023:END
0024:
0025:-RUN
```

This information identifies the variables and commands sent during the request operation. These requests are usually TABLE requests or -HTMLFORM BEGIN/END requests that are sent from the Client to the Reporting Server.

The ID term in the first line above the procedure links it to the URL trace from which it was generated. For example, the ID *URL*85, links the procedure to the server request event line within the activity captured in trace URL 85.

At the end of the list of variables and commands, the procedure displays a list of status messages describing the results of the query or other operation, as shown in the following image.

```
-----End----- RequestID=URL85Req2 UrlID=URL85 ReqInfo="Run:Domain=Getting_Started,
---Server--Times--- RequestID=URL85Req2 UrlID=URL85 ReqInfo="Run:Domain=Getting Started,
```

Reviewing Reporting Server Response Details

Traces captured from a Reporting Server response identify the information returned in response to a query or other request operation sent during a work session from the Reporting Server to the Client during a work session.

To view output traces, click on the link from an underlined URL request response entry in a URL Trace entry, such as:

URL103Req4Resp

The first part of this display identifies the format variables returned to the Client during the response operation, as shown in the following image.



The second part of the display identifies the data returned to the Client during the response operation, as shown in the following image.

-
-
OTHER
etc
ETC
19/08/2015
21.17.38
1440033458
0
_EDAHOME
D
1
1
1
1

The Session Viewer can display Reporting Server response traces in XML, HTML, or a standard report format. Reporting Server responses usually contain data or status messages returned in response to SQL-based queries, updates, or other database-related operations.

Working With Log Files

The Log Files page displays links to all log files. The main grid lists log files in alphabetical order by name.

Next to each log file entry is a list of Logger Names, that is, those pages or events that contribute entries to that log. For example, the audit.log file captures events from com.ibi.uoa, com.ibi.config, com.ibi.uoa.caster_config, com.ibi.content, and others. The Log Level field, next to each Logger, identifies the level of events captured by that contributor.

Event levels are cumulative. Events captured by a higher level are included when you select a lower level. For example, if you set the level to *Warn*, you capture Fatal level and Error level events as well as events that generate a warning.

The levels are defined below:

- **Off.** Capture no events.
- **Fatal.** Capture only events that disrupt system operations.
- **Error.** Capture events that generate error messages in addition to fatal events.
- **Warn.** Capture events that generate warning messages in addition to fatal and error events.
- □ Info. Capture events that generate informational messages in addition to warning, error, and fatal events.
- **Debug.** Capture events that generate debug messages in addition to informational, warning, error, and fatal events.

□ **Trace.** Capture events that generate trace messages in addition to debug, informational, warning, error, and fatal events.

The log levels assigned to the audit log files are preset, and are not available for updates. You can adjust the log level assigned to any of the other log files. However, when you recycle the application server, all log levels revert to their default value.

The Zip All button saves copies of the current version of all log files into a single zip file. You can use this button to capture records of system events whenever necessary. The log files you capture include records of events from the start of the current day until the time you create the zip file. Event records captured in the log files support troubleshooting and analysis.

Note: The Log Files page does not display Web Services traces or client traces. To view these traces, open the Session Viewer or the Session Monitor.

Working With Log Pages

Log pages list detailed records of system events that were captured in a log file in order of the time of their occurrence, from the earliest event on the day of the log to the most recent.

To open a log file for review, click a link from the Log Name column on the Log Files page. The page for your selected log file opens in a separate window.

The name of the log file appears at the top of the page. A list of earlier versions of that log file also appears at the top of the page. This list contains all previous versions of that log file that are currently available in the *drive*:\ibi\WebFOCUS_BUE82\WebFOCUS\logs directory.

The New Trace Lines link appears beneath the file name. Click this link to refresh the log page with entries for system events that occur after you open it. New records are posted to a log file automatically. To protect the integrity of this information, no one can use a log page to update or change log file records.

The Bottom link takes you directly to the last entry in the file. This link is useful when you must review a file with a large number of entries and you want to move directly to the most recent event. Similarly, the Top link, which appears below the last entry, returns you to the first entry in the log file and the features that appear on the top of the page.

The list of individual event entries begins below the Bottom link. Individual entries start with the date and time, in hours, minutes, seconds, and milliseconds, that an event took place. A code name identifying the category of event and the specific event itself follows the date and time. A full description of the event comes next. This description includes any messages generated by the system in response to the event.

You can use the log page to review and search for records of specific events in response to a query from a customer service support team member. The Find command in your browser can help you search for an event by a unique message, event name, or timestamp. You can also scroll through records to locate an event.

When your review is complete, close the log page window. You can use the Save or Print command in your browser to save or print a copy of the log page, or you can capture a zipped copy of it using the Zip All button from the Log Files page.

Tracking ReportCaster Configuration Events

You can now track when ReportCaster Configuration settings are changed. This feature enables you to keep continuous records of how and when ReportCaster Configuration settings are changed, and to comply with any regulatory auditing requirements of your organization. To access the audit log file, launch the Administration Console, click the Diagnostics tab, and then click *Log Files*. In the Log Name column, click the *audit* link.

When you change ReportCaster Configuration settings, a record of the event, labeled as caster_config, is created in the audit.log file. Before changes to the ReportCaster Configuration settings are saved, the previous settings of the ReportCaster Configuration tool are recorded in a timestamped dserver.xml file. This file is saved in the following directory:

drive:\ibi\WebFOCUS_BUEnn\WebFOCUS\logs

where *nn* is the WebFOCUS BUE release number.

Downloading ReportCaster Job Trace Files

After you run a schedule, or use the Purge Job Logs utility, you can select the corresponding job log stored in the ReportCaster Console to download the trace files that were created by the job.

Procedure: How to Download ReportCaster Job Trace Files

1. Run a schedule, or use the Purge Job Logs utility.

Note: To receive trace files for a ReportCaster job, traces must be enabled for the job.

- 2. Navigate to the ReportCaster Console. On the ribbon, in the Show group, click the *Job Log* button.
- In the Job Logs panel, choose the folder that contains the job log you wish to select. The job logs appear in the right panel.
- 4. Click a job log.
- 5. On the ribbon, in the Manage Job Logs group, click the down arrow on the *View Trace* button.

The Download Trace Files menu option appears.

6. Click the Download Trace Files option.

The Windows Save dialog box displays, from which you can save the trace files to your machine. The Job Id of the log becomes the name of the zip file to be opened or saved.

Using the ReportCaster Performance Log to Track Schedule Performance

You can use the performance log to analyze the resource utilization of schedules in WebFOCUS Business User Edition. This log records the processing duration of individual schedules and schedule components.

To access the performance log, navigate to the ReportCaster Console. On the ribbon, in the Manage group, click the *Server Log* drop-down arrow to view the Server Log menu, where you can click the *performance.log* option.

Note: If the Manage Server Group is not visible, click the Server Status button in the Show group.

The performance log feature is turned off by default. To activate performance log recordings, click *Turn On Server Performance Trace*.

The performance.log records the following information in each record:

- Job ID
- Schedule ID
- Schedule Name
- User ID
- Time
- Type (Begin, End)
- Event (QUEUED, JOB, WF_REPORTING_SERVER, DESTINATION_MAPPING, COMPRESSION, EMAIL, FTP, LIBRARY, REPOSITORY, PRINT)
- Source (Schedule ID, Task ID, Distribution ID)
- Server Name (EDASERVE, IBIMAIL, FTP Server Name, Print Name...)
- Server User (Execution ID)
- Object Scheduled fex

Understanding Warning Messages in InfoAssist

This topic describes InfoAssist warning messages.

InfoAssist Warning Messages

Message	Description	ок	Cancel
Are you sure you want to switch data source? Doing so will delete your current report.	This warning message displays when a report is first saved in a different format and one or more additional reports are created and saved, and the user clicks <i>Switch</i> on the Data tab and selects a different report from the shortcut menu.	Deletes the current report.	Preserves the current report.
Are you sure you want to add a data source? Doing so will delete your current report.	This warning message displays when a report is first saved in a different format and an additional report is created and saved, and <i>Add</i> on the Data tab is selected.	Deletes the current report.	Preserves the current report.
User Selection in this request is not allowed with your configuration. Your report will be converted to default output.	This warning message displays when the user selection option is not available on restore, or when you are restoring a user selection option when it is disabled at global preference.	Converts the report to use the default output type.	No changes are made to the original procedure and it is closed.

Unsupported Syntax and Objects

This section describes the syntax and objects that are not supported.

- SUB-TOTAL syntax is not supported. If you try to open an existing procedure in InfoAssist from a legacy tool that contains SUB-TOTAL syntax, an unsupported syntax warning message displays. If you choose to continue, InfoAssist will convert the syntax to SUBTOTAL and add the converted syntax to all higher level sort breaks.
- SUMMARIZE syntax is not supported. If you try to open an existing procedure in InfoAssist from a legacy tool that contains SUMMARIZE syntax, an unsupported syntax warning message displays. If you choose to continue, InfoAssist will convert the syntax to RECOMPUTE.
- ❑ HTML FULL, FIXED, and PAGED syntax is not supported. If you try to open an existing procedure in InfoAssist from a legacy tool that contains any of these three options, an unsupported syntax warning message displays. If you choose to continue, InfoAssist will convert the procedure to regular HTML output.
- COLUMN-TOTAL syntax is not supported. If you try to open an existing procedure in InfoAssist from a legacy tool that contains this syntax, an unsupported syntax warning message displays. If you choose to continue, InfoAssist will convert it to use RECOMPUTE syntax.
- □ Line objects in a compound document imported from a legacy tool are not supported. If you try to open an existing procedure that includes line objects, an unsupported syntax warning message displays. If you choose to continue, InfoAssist will remove these line objects.

Feedback

Customer success is our top priority. Connect with us today!

Information Builders Technical Content Management team is comprised of many talented individuals who work together to design and deliver quality technical documentation products. Your feedback supports our ongoing efforts!

You can also preview new innovations to get an early look at new content products and services. Your participation helps us create great experiences for every customer.

To send us feedback or make a connection, contact Sarah Buccellato, Technical Editor, Technical Content Management at Sarah_Buccellato@ibi.com.

To request permission to repurpose copyrighted material, please contact Frances Gambino, Vice President, Technical Content Management at *Frances_Gambino@ibi.com*.







Information Builders, Inc. Two Penn Plaza New York, NY 10121-2898